1977

State of Utah v. Joseph Anselmo : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

The Appellant, Joseph Anselmo, appeals from a judgment of conviction and sentence thereon entered against him in the Third Judicial District Court for the crimes of kidnapping and aggravated sexual assault.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

Appellant Joseph Anselmo was convicted by a jury of the crimes of kidnapping and aggravated sexual assault on April 1, 1976, after a two-day trial. Sentence of the court

was pronounced on April 1, 1976, ordering Appellant to serve the indeterminant term as provided by law of 0 to 5 years for kidnapping and five years to life for aggravated sexual assault, the terms to run concurrently.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant Joseph Anselmo seeks reversal of the court below as to the judgment entered on the conviction of aggravated sexual assault. Appellant does not appeal from his conviction for the crime of kidnapping.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On September 20, 1975, Laura Margaret Lund received a phone call from a past acquaintance and went to meet her at a Salt Lake City restaurant. (Tr. 29-31) Laura Margaret Lund met several people for the first time that night including Appellant Joseph Anselmo at his apartment on Fourth South in Salt Lake City. (Tr. 35) She testified that she talked with Appellant and he wanted her to be his "old lady" and she said she was not interested in such a proposition but that she would go to a party that night at a friend's house just as a friend. (Tr. 38,39)

She testified that after arriving at the home of "J.T." (Martin Hayes) approximately eight people were there engaging in drinking and listening to music. (Tr. 40-44)

Shortly thereafter Laura Margaret Lund testified that Anselmo took her to a side bedroom in the home and tried to kiss her and make other advances. There was a conversation about Laura Margaret Lund having said she wanted to go to the party as a friend only and then appellant said he had changed his mind about that. (Tr. 48) Laura Margaret Lund testified that she yelled that she wanted to leave and Anselmo hit her in the face with his fist and said she could not leave and she was to be his "old lady". (Tr. 50,51)

Laura Margaret Lund testified that after being hit by Appellant Anselmo her eyes were blackened and her face swollen. (Tr. 60, Exhibit 15, 16)

After being struck Laura Margaret Lund went to another room and shortly thereafter Appellant Anselmo came in and hit her with his fist again in the face and took her to the side room. (Tr. 52,53) In the side bedroom again a struggle ensued with Appellant Anselmo trying to

remove Laura Margaret Lund's clothing and she struggling to free herself. (Tr. 54,55) At that point Laura Margaret Lund testified that defendant got on his knees above her and held one hand at her throat and pulled his other fist back but said nothing. (Tr. 58) At that point she testified that she did not want to get hurt and she submitted to an act of sexual intercourse with appellant. (Tr. 58)

She slept in that room that night with appellant and the next day, November 21, Friday, she testified that she was taken to a back room by appellant and one Martin Hayes where she again testified that she was raped, after appellant said to her that she had better settle down or he would see that his man would take care of her. (Tr. 64, 65) When asked what he meant, Martin Hayes hit the wall with a hammer and said "That's what he means".

Laura Margaret Lund testified that she remained in the home until Monday evening, November 24, 1975. (Tr. 74) She testified that she sneaked out Monday evening and spoke with police officers two days later on November 26.

The complaining witness was examined by a physician on November 25 and he, Dr. George Hinckley, testified that she had bruises and abrasions about her

eyes (Tr. 126), but he could neither confirm nor deny an act of intercourse due to various factors. (Tr. 129, 131)

At the end of the State's case, appellant moved to reduce Count II of the information, charging aggravated sexual assault, to simple rape on the grounds that the State had not proved the necessary threats had been made to prove aggravated sexual assault, but that the matter should go to the jury only on the lesser included offense of simple rape. (Tr. 135-139) The motion was denied by the court. (Tr. 142)

Appellant Anselmo did not deny any acts of intercourse with Laura Margaret Lund but testified that his having hit her was over an argument concerning something other than whether she would submit to sex and he testified that he did not force her to commit any sex act. (Tr. 184-186)

The jury returned verdicts of simple kidnapping, a lesser included offense of aggravated kidnapping as charged in the information, and guilty of aggravated sexual assault as charged in Count II of the information. (Tr. 220, R. 491,412)

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO REDUCE COUNT II OF THE INFORMATION AT THE END OF THE STATE'S CASE FROM THE CHARGE OF AGGRAVATED SEXUAL ASSAULT AS CONTAINED IN THE INFORMATION TO THE LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE OF SIMPLE RAPE BECAUSE THE STATE FAILED TO PROVE THE NECESSARY ELEMENTS OF AGGRAVATED SEXUAL ASSAULT.

Under our recent criminal code rape is defined in Utah Code Annotated, Section 76-5-402 as an act of sexual intercourse with a female not the actor's wife, without her consent. "Without her consent" is defined in Section 76-5-406 in several ways, the only ones which have relevance in this case being subsection 1 or subsection 2. Utah Code Annotated, Section 76-55-406 says an act of sexual intercourse is without consent when the actor compels the victim to submit or participate by any threat that would prevent resistance by a person of ordinary resolution. So, if a person threatens another so as to overcome resistance in a person of ordinary resolution, any following act of sexual intercourse is without consent and if the victim is

not the wife of the perpetrator, it is an act of rape.

For an act of rape to rise to a first degree felony under Utah Code Annotated, Section 76-5-405, aggravated sexual assault, the actor, in the course of a rape, must either cause serious bodily injury or compel the submission to the rape by a "threat of kidnapping, death, or serious bodily injury to be inflicted imminently." That is, a threat must be one of kidnap, death, or serious bodily injury (defined in 76-1-601 as "bodily injury that creates or causes serious permanent disfigurement, protracted loss or impairment of the function of any bodily member or organ or creates a substantial risk of death) to be taken out of the general category of threats [76-5-406 sub(2)] so as to negate consent and to rise to the level of a threat that is over and above that necessary to amount to a threat compelling submission to the rape and thus be an aggravated sexual assault.

Threats that overcome the resistance of a person of ordinary resolution, when used to accomplish sexual intercourse, can get one convicted of rape. Our legislature then indicated that to be convicted of the more serious

offense of aggravated sexual assault, a first degree felony, the threats that compel submission to the rape must be specific and not of a general type that would overcome the resistance of a person of ordinary resolution. That is, a specific threat of kidnapping, death, or serious bodily injury must be made. Clearly our legislature had in mind that in order to convict one of the more serious offense of aggravated sexual assault, a more serious threat than one that overcomes resistance of a person of ordinary resolution must be made.

In this case there was no evidence of a specific threat to kidnap Laura Margaret Lund, cause her death, or to inflict serious bodily injury upon her immediately.

Laura Margaret Lund testified that she had been hit in the face by appellant with his fists and later that same night appellant pulled back his fist as if to hit her while holding her with the other hand. (Tr. 58) That is clearly a threat, one that may well overcome the resistance of a person of ordinary resolution and thus any following act would be without her consent. However, appellant contends that it is clearly not a threat of kidnapping or

death. As the term "serious bodily injury" is defined it is also equally clearly not a threat of imminent serious bodily injury; that is, permanent disfigurement or a substantial risk of death. This becomes clear when comparing Utah Code Annotated, 76-5-405 (2) with 76-5-405, the aggravated sexual assault statute. What the aggravated sexual assault statute has in mind in terms of threats is serious threats with weapons of a very violent potential, not threats to inflict injury by hand. Any threat of violence by bare hand would probably qualify as a threat within 76-5-406(2), one that overcomes resistance, but the aggravated sexual assault statute must mean some conduct that is more severe than a threat to do injury by bare hand. Bodily injury is defined in 76-1-601 as physical pain or injury and the legislature could have put that term in sub-paragraphs (a)(ii) of 76-5-405 but it shows a term instead that includes within its definition an injury that could have a substantial risk of death. Appellant contends that a threat under the aggravated sexual assault statute must be much more severe than one that was shown in this case, that is, a threat to hit someone in the face with a

bare hand.

To contend otherwise would be to contend there is no such thing as simple rape, because whenever an act of sexual intercourse occurred with a female not the wife of the actor and any kind of threat occurred, that would amount to aggravated sexual assault if the term "threat" within 76-5-405(a)(ii) is extended to mean a threat to do something with one's bare hands.

As such, the State failed to prove a threat within the aggravated sexual assault statute but instead only proved a threat which would fit within 76-5-406 (2) and so appellant should not have had the jury consider his guilt on the charge of aggravated sexual assault but instead only on the lesser included offense of rape.

Of course, aggravated sexual assault can occur when in the course of the rape the actor causes serious bodily injury to the victim. As discussed above, appellant contends that the defined term "serious bodily injury" requires much more severe injury than was evidenced in this case. In this case Laura Margaret Lund suffered black eyes and a bruise behind her left ear. (Tr. 60, 126, Exhibit 15, 16). The term "bodily injury" covers that sort of injury

and the term serious bodily injury is reserved for those injuries which create a substantial risk of death. Therefore, the State having failed to show that Appellant Anselmo caused serious bodily injury or compelled submission to an act of sexual intercourse by threat of kidnapping, death, or serious bodily injury to be inflicted imminently, the case should not have gone to the jury on that charge and the court below erred in so allowing the jury to consider the charge of aggravated sexual assault and so appellant is entitled to a reversal of his conviction as to Count II of the information.

POINT II

THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN FAILING TO
GIVE APPELLANT'S PROPOSED INSTRUCTION
DEALING WITH THE AMOUNT AND NATURE OF
RESISTANCE REQUIRED IN A RAPE CASE.

In as much as Laura Margaret Lund testified that her only actual physical resistance consisted of some "struggling" (Tr. 57), appellant requested an instruction on the necessity of resistance on the part of the prosecutrix. (R. 473) That instruction requested was as follows:

You are instructed that the woman must resist the force of violence or threats of immediate or serious bodily harm directed at her to the extent that seems reasonable under the circumstances. Mere passive resistance is not sufficient. Resistance must be by acts and not by mere words. If a woman objects verbally to the act of intercourse, but by her conduct consents to it, the element of lack of consent has not been shown beyond a reasonable doubt and you must acquit the defendant. Further, if her opposition appears after a period of apparent consensual behavior, that opposition to amount to resistance sufficient to constitute the lack of consent element of the offense, must be such that a reasonable man under the circumstances would have no question but that consent was being withheld. If you do not find such resistance beyond a reasonable doubt, you must acquit.

The court failed to give Appellant Anselmo's proposed instruction No. 10 and he duly objected. (Tr. 218)

In State v. Beeny, 115 Utah 168 (1949) this court reversed a conviction for rape where the jury during deliberations returned with a question concerning a similar instruction as proffered in appellant's case. In that case the pertinent portion of the instruction given by the trial court and approved by this court was as follows:

....that said Pearle _____ resisted the said act of sexual intercourse, but her resistance was overcome by force or violence exerted by said defendant.

You are instructed that the word resistance as used in these instructions, does not require that the said Pearle _____ should have made the uttermost resistance. The law requires that the woman do what her age, strength, the surrounding facts and all attending circumstances make it reasonable for her to do in order to manifest opposition to the act of sexual intercourse. Any objections in words, or such objections coupled with some resistance are not enough to make the acts of the accused or either of them constitute rape. The resistance required by the law is such resistance as the said Pearle _____ was capable of making at the time and under the circumstances there existing.

Appellant Anselmo contends that in this case where there was clearly at least a battery committed by Appellant Anselmo upon Laura Margaret Lund but nowhere in the record is any real resistance shown by her except verbally that the proffered instruction was necessary to inform the jury that earnest resistance was required.

The court defined aggravated sexual assault in Instruction 23 (R. 437) and the crime of rape in Instruction 24 (R. 438) In order to determine the meaning of those terms

the jury was of course required to refer to the definition "without consent" in Instruction No. 25 (R. 439). In Instruction No. 25 the court told the jury that an act of sexual intercourse is without consent of the victim when, among other things, the actor compels the victim to submit or participate by force that overcomes such earnest resistance as might reasonably be expected under the circumstances. That sub-paragraph is of course taken from the definition in U.C.A. 76-5-406 (1). In Instruction 26 (R. 440) the court attempted to discuss what amount of resistance is required. However, under the facts of this case where the slight resistance offered was merely verbal an instruction such as that approved in State v. Beeny, supra, is more appropriate than the court's Instruction No. 26. (R. 440) Such instruction as the court gave would be appropriate where there was testimony that there was physical resistance overcome by force but Laura Margaret Lund nowhere in her testimony indicated that she physically resisted. As such the court committed error which affected the substantial rights of Appellant Anselmo requiring a reversal of his conviction for aggravated sexual assault.

POINT III

THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN GIVING AN INSTRUCTION UNSUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE AND WHICH TENDED TO CONFUSE THE JURY.

The court in Instruction No. 25 (R. 439) defined the term "without consent" in three sub-paragraphs, the first two of which did have applicability to the facts of this case.

Paragraph 3 stated "the victim has not consented and the actor knows that the victim is unconscious, unaware that the act is occurring, or physically unable to resist." That subsection is taken from 76-5-406(3) as one of the possible ways in which an act of sexual intercourse can be without the consent of the victim. However, in this case, there was absolutely no evidence that the victim was unconscious or unaware of what was occurring or physically unable to resist.

It is clear that a court is not to give instructions on abstract principles of law not supported by the evidence. See, for example, State v. Chealey, 100 U 423, 116 P.2d 377 (1941); State v. Rivenburg 11 U.2d 95, 355 P.2d 639 (1960). In State v. Thompson, 110 U. 113, 170 P.2d

153 (1946), this court stated the rule above and went on to say, 170 P.2d 162:

[the court is not] to instruct on any question which is not involved the case under the evidence. We think that it cannot be too strongly emphasized that the court should apply the law to the facts as they appear from the evidence, and should instruct only on the law which has a bearing on the facts.

Appellant contends that Instruction No. 25 which was objected to by appellant (Tr. 219) should not have been given because there was no evidence to support that portion of the instruction. An instruction which has no support on the record, even though it may be a correct statement of an abstract proposition of law, is improper when there is no support for it in the evidence and it is grounds for reversal if it is calculated to mislead the jury. People v. Moore, 43 Cal. 2d 513, 275 P.2d 485 (1954). Appellant Anselmo contends that in light of the circumstances of this case the giving of this portion of the instruction misled the jury and was prejudicial and reversible error.

The last phrase of sub-paragraph 3 in Instruction

No. 25, "or physically unable to resist" clearly has in mind the situation related to the first phrases of that paragraph. That is, when a victim is unable to move or unconscious or under the influence of drugs or in some manner unaware of what is occurring after having been knocked unconscious or for some other reason totally physically unable to resist such an instruction would be appropriate. However, in this case, the jury could have easily been misled to believe that Laura Margaret Lund was physically unable to resist because she had been hit in the face by Appellant Anselmo. In State v. Pacheco, 27 U.2d 45, 492 P.2d 1347 (1972), this court reversed a conviction for grand larceny and gave the defendant a new trial saying that it was impossible for this court to "Prejudicate whether the jury convicted defendant of larceny or aiding and abetting, under the record in this case". So also in this case this court cannot say whether the jury found either that Laura Margaret Lund submitted because her resistance was overcome by force or whether she submitted to sexual intercourse because of threats or whether the jury mistakenly believed that she was physically unable

to resist as that term was set forth in Instruction No. 25. There was simply no evidence to support the giving of that portion of Instruction No. 25 and it is impossible for this court to say that the jury did not rely on that portion of the instruction and for the reasons advanced in Pacheco, supra, Appellant Anselmo is entitled to a new trial.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons above stated, that the court erred in submitting the case to the jury on the offense of aggravated sexual assault as charged in Count II of the information, and erred in the giving of certain instructions, appellant respectfully submits that the case should be remanded for a new trial as to the judgment entered on Count II of the information.