1976

## State of Utah v. Joseph Anselmo : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THE COURT CORRECTLY DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION TO REDUCE COUNT II FROM AGGRAVATED SEXUAL ASSAULT TO SIMPLE RAPE.

Appellant contends that the trial court erred in denying his motion to reduce Count II to simple rape because "there was no evidence of a specific threat to kidnap Laura Margaret Lund, cause her death, or to inflict serious bodily injury upon her immediately." (Appellant's brief, p. 8). This contention has no foundation in the record of the trial, or in case law. Utah Code Annotated § 76-5-405 (1953, as amended), delineates the elements of aggravated sexual assault. It states:

"(1) A person commits aggravated sexual assault if:

(a) In the course of a rape or attempted rape or forcible sodomy or attempted forcible sodomy:



- (i) The actor causes serious bodily injury to the victim; or
- (ii) The actor compels submission to the rape or forcible sodomy by threat of kidnaping, death, or serious bodily injury to be inflicted imminently on any person.
- (b) The victim of a rape or attempted rape or sodomy or attempted sodomy is under fourteen years of age.
- (2) Aggravated sexual assault is a felony of the first degree."

The record of the trial sufficiently establishes the elements mentioned in subsection (a)(i). Laura Lund testified that appellant made sexual advances and then hit her in the face with his fist when she resisted (Tr.49-50). The testimony was corroborated by appellant's own admission (Tr.184,200) and the testimony of other witnesses (Tr.116, 134,148). Laura began yelling and appellant hit her again (Tr.50). It appears from Laura's testimony that this attack made her hysterical. She stated that she couldn't tell how appellant hit her or where after the first blows (Tr.50,57,116,160). Appellant followed Laura into the bathroom and hit her again in the face with his fist (Tr.53). Laura testified that she screamed at one of the women present "that guy is going to kill me." (Tr.56).

It is well established that the kind of physical force that may induce fear in the mind of a woman is immaterial. People v. Harris, 108 C.A.2d 84, 238 P.2d 158 (1952). Certainly the force employed by appellant (a man 5'11" tall, weighing 205 lbs. Tr.212) was sufficient to cause Laura Lund to fear death or serious bodily injury. She neither knew appellant, nor did she know the other people present in the house except one woman. Appellant hit Laura in the face with his fist repeatedly and finally pushed one fist on her throat and held the other back prepared to strike her again, before she submitted to his attack.

While appellant did not specifically articulate his intent to kill or seriously injure Laura, such articulation is not necessary to constitute a threat. The general rule is that a threat in situations like the present may be expressed by acts or conduct as well as words. See State v. Bouldin, 153 Mont. 276, 456 P.2d 830 (1969) where a jury instruction to that effect was challenged on appeal and the giving of the instruction was affirmed by the Montana Supreme Court.

Appellant's conduct constituted a threat of death or serious bodily injury to Laura Lund. His

conduct indicated his persistence, his strength, his willingness to hurt and physically injure his victim, and his lack of concern for Laura Lund's pain or humiliation.

Appellant also threatened his victim with kidnaping. Laura testified that the first morning after she was raped she attempted to dress and appellant said "Where do you think you're going. . . shut up and lay back down." (Tr.62). Appellant then informed her that the windows were nailed shut if she had "any ideas about going through the windows. . ." (Tr.64). That threat was bolstered by the conduct of appellant's friend indicating that others in the house would detain Laura or injure her if she resisted (Tr.65). State v. Barnett, 85 N.M. 404, 512 P.2d 977 (1973) posits that it is immaterial in a rape case whether threats are made by the defendant or someone else.

Respondent maintains that appellant's conduct satisfied the elements of aggravated sexual assault. We reject appellant's claim that Utah Code Annotated § 76-5-405(a)(ii) contemplated the exclusion of an assault with bare hands. Appellant cites no case authority supporting that allegation. Moreover, it is common knowledge that people can and do kill with their

bare hands. Given the disproportionate size of appellant and his female victim it is reasonable to believe that Laura Lund considered appellant's violent attack a threat to kill her or seriously injure her. When appellant's assaultive conduct is coupled with the actual kidnaping of Laura Lund and the threat by appellant's friend with a hammer (Tr.65) the elements of Utah Code Annotated 76-5-405(a)(ii) are uncontrovertibly established.

On the basis of the foregoing, appellant's conviction for aggravated sexual assault should be affirmed.

#### POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY REFUSED TO GIVE APPELLANT'S INSTRUCTION ON THE AMOUNT AND NATURE OF RESISTANCE REQUIRED IN A RAPE CASE.

Appellant proposed the following instruction on resistance:

You are instructed that the woman must resist the force of violence or threats of immediate or serious bodily harm directed at her to the extent that seems reasonable under the circumstances. Mere passive resistance is not sufficient. Resistance must be by acts and not by mere words. If a woman objects verbally to the act of intercourse, but by her conduct consents to it,

the element of lack of consent has not been shown beyond a reasonable doubt and you must acquit the defendant. Further, if her opposition appears after a period of apparent consensual behavior, that opposition to amount to resistance sufficient to constitute the lack of consent element of the offense, must be such that a reasonable man under the circumstances would have no question but that consent was being withheld. If you do not find such resistance beyond a reasonable doubt, you must acquit.

The court refused this proffered instruction and instead gave the following instruction:

"Without consent" means that Laura Margaret Lund was compelled to submit to sexual intercourse by force or fear that overcame such earnest resistance as she might reasonably be expected to have demonstrated under the circumstances.

To constitute the resistance required by the law of this State on the part of the female, the State must prove to your satisfaction, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the female manifested her opposition to the perpetrator of the act by doing what her age, strength, the surrounding facts and all of the attending circumstances make it reasonable for her to do to manifest that opposition, or to show by such proof beyond a reasonable doubt that she was prevented from so resisting by threats of immediate and great bodily harm accompanied by the apparent power or execution of such harm.

The amount or kind of force required to overcome the resistance required of the female is relative, depending upon the particular circumstances, but in any case it must be sufficient to subject and put the dissenting woman within the power of the man and thus enable him to have his intercourse with her not-

withstanding good faith resistance on her part. Thus, no particular amount of force or no particular kind of force is necessary so long as it is sufficient to overcome the resistance required of the female as hereinabove set forth.

However, in determining the sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction of rape, you must consider the case of assertion of the forcible accomplishment of the act, the difficulty of disproving that assertion, and the proneness of a woman to minimize her fault by asserting force or violence or the requisite threats.  
(Instruction 26; R. 440)

Respondent contends that the instruction given by the court was proper and correctly stated the law concerning resistance in a rape case. The instruction requested by appellant is misleading and misconstrues the amount and degree of resistance which the law requires of a woman who is raped. State v. Glidden, (Mont.) 529 P.2d 1384 (1974) at p. 1386 explains the amount of resistance necessary in a rape case. The Montana Supreme Court states:

"The law does not put her life into even greater jeopardy than it is already in. When a woman is dealing with a man bent on rape, how can she know how much resistance she can give without provoking him into killing her? Continuous resistance to an attempted rape is not required. This Court in State v. Metcalf, 153 Mont. 369 376, 457 P.2d 453, 457 (1969), held:

"The defendant does not, however, have the right to an instruction which, to the exclusion of some elements of a crime, would mislead the jury

to believe that constant physical resistance which required force to overcome was an essential element."

Appellant cites State v. Beeny, 115 Ut. 168, 203 P.2d 397 (1949) to illustrate a proper instruction on resistance in a rape trial. The facts of Beeny, supra, are much different than in the instant case. In Beeny, the prosecutrix met the defendants in a bar, was somewhat intimate with one defendant while in the bar, left the bar and then freely returned to be alone with the defendants in a car. Such conduct would warrant an instruction which explains that some resistance by the prosecutrix in the bar would not be sufficient to constitute resistance for an entirely separate episode considerably later and in a different situation.

In the present case, Laura Lund's resistance was substantial and lasted for several days. Considering the circumstances of her kidnaping and beating continuous resistance for over seventy-two hours would be unreasonable and impossible.

Appellant characterizes Laura Lund's resistance as "slight". (Appellant's brief p. 14). This description is inaccurate and contradictory to the record. Laura Lund testified that she pushed appellant away when he first made sexual advances. She began yelling and trying to get out of the side room where appellant had

her trapped (Tr.48-50). Even this amount of resistance produced a blow in the face from appellant (Tr.50). Appellant struck Laura again soon after without provocation. After these blows Laura still resisted and "struggled" (Tr.51 l. 27). She escaped to the bathroom where appellant hit her again and dragged her back into the side room (Tr.53). They continued to struggle and Laura escaped to the bathroom again (Tr.55). She was forced back into the side room and another struggle ensued (Tr.57-58). Finally appellant "got fed up with my fighting" and after another threat Laura was raped.

Laura Lund resisted the attacks by appellant both physically and verbally. She was scared, even hysterical and she had been hit brutally in the face at least three times by a large man. She could not escape and other people present were clearly not sympathetic to her plight.

The facts of the case establish that Laura Lund resisted to the extent (and beyond) that her age, strength, the surrounding facts and all the attending circumstances made it reasonable for her to manifest opposition. Moreover, such resistance was overcome by physical violence and imminent threat of serious bodily injury and death.



The court did not commit error in refusing appellant's proposed instruction on resistance in a rape case, and the conviction rendered below should be affirmed.

POINT III

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN GIVING INSTRUCTION NO. 25 BECAUSE IT WAS SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE AND WAS NOT INTENDED TO CONFUSE THE JURY.

The challenged instruction states:

An act of sexual intercourse is without the consent of the victim under any of the following circumstances:

1. When the actor compels the victim to submit or participate by force that overcomes such earnest resistance as might reasonably be expected under the circumstances; or
2. The actor compels the victim to submit or participate by any threat that would prevent resistance by a person of ordinary resolution; or
3. The victim has not consented and the actor knows the victim is unconscious, unaware that the act is occurring, or physically unable to resist.

Appellant specifically objects to paragraph 3 above claiming that it was unsupported by the evidence and misleading to the jury.

Respondent maintains that the inclusion of paragraph 3 in the above instruction was not reversible error for the following reasons. There is support for

paragraph 3 in the record; it did not mislead or confuse the jury (nor was it calculated to) when considered together with all the instructions; case law condemns such an instruction where appellant has failed to show that the challenged instruction was prejudicial; and the overwhelming evidence against appellant prevents this singular instruction from being prejudicial under the circumstances, even if its presentation was improper.

The record indicates that Laura Lund became hysterical after appellant hit her several times (Tr.56-57, 160). Laura's testimony and the severity of the beating she received also suggest that she was in shock when the rape occurred. It is not unreasonable to believe that Laura Lund was physically unable to resist appellant's sexual attack because of her hysteria and shock. The jury was entitled to weigh the credibility of Laura's testimony and determine the effect and nature of her ability to resist. Paragraph 3 of instruction 25 properly posed the possibility that Laura Lund was physically unable to resist appellant's attack.

The rule concerning misleading instructions is found in State v. Coleman, 17 Ut. 2d 166, 406 P.2d 308 (1965) where this court states that generally all instructions should be considered together when

the giving of any one instruction is claimed as error. Paragraph 3 of instruction 25 was not reversible error when correctly interpreted and viewed together with all the other instructions.

The language of paragraph 3 is taken verbatim from Utah Code Annotated § 76-5-406(3). Appellant cites no cases or authority in support of his interpretation of "physically unable to resist." Moreover, the language of § 76-5-406 indicates that appellant's reading of subsection (3) is incorrect. Appellant interprets subsection (3) to include the use of drugs to incapacitate a victim. However, subsection (6) explicitly deals with the use of drugs and it is unreasonable to construe subsection (3) to include conduct expressly covered in another subsection. Subsection (3) also speaks explicitly of a victim being "unconscious" so that the phrase "physically unable to resist" logically implies another kind of helplessness. Subsection (3) gives no indication on its face that appellant's interpretation is valid. Rather the plain language of subsection (3) and the rest of § 76-5-406 contemplate exactly the kind of physical incapacity to resist which Laura Lund experienced.

A consideration of the other instructions also leads to the conclusion that paragraph 3 of Instruction 25 was not prejudicial or even improper. Instruction 37 (R.451) stated that all the instructions should be reviewed together and that no single instruction was to be singled out. Instruction 38 (R.452) explained that if an instruction only applies to a state of facts found not to exist (i.e. paragraph 3 of Instruction 25) then the jury must disregard the instruction. The jury was also warned that the fear of the victim must be the result of an actual source (Instruction 27, R. 441). In light of these instructions paragraph 3 of Instruction 25 was proper and was not prejudicial to appellant.

Case law dealing with allegedly improper instructions establishes the concept that if the giving of an instruction is deemed error it is not reversible error unless it is shown to be prejudicial. People v. Trujillo, (Colo.) 527 P.2d 52 (1974); People v. Barker, 180 Colo. 28, 501 P.2d 1041 (1972). No such showing is rendered here. Not only was paragraph 3 of Instruction 25 supported by the evidence but there was substantial evidence supporting the other parts of the instruction.

Laura Lund's resistance was reasonable under the circumstances and appellant's threats would prevent resistance by a person of ordinary resolution.

Appellant refers to State v. Pachecr, 27 U.2d 45, 492 P.2d 1347 (1972) in support of his claim that paragraph 3 of Instruction 25 was improper. Pachecr however, has little similarity to the instant case. In Pachecr, the defendant was charged with grand larceny (of a rifle). No other persons were charged with the crime or implicated in its commission. The trial court, however, instructed the jury that Pachecr could be found guilty of aiding and abetting in the commission of a felony, a crime for which he was not charged or tried. In the present case, the challenged instruction was taken verbatim from a statute concerning consent in sexual assault cases, the crime for which appellant was charged. There was evidence presented which justified each paragraph of the challenged instruction and the jury was cautioned to disregard instructions not supported by the facts.

Also, the Colorado Supreme Court in People v. Trujillo, supra, expressly authorized an instruction containing all the statutory sections on intent even though all sections were not applicable.

Under the above circumstances, the giving of instruction 25 was clearly supported by the evidence, did not mislead or confuse the jury, and was not prejudicial. Appellant's conviction therefore, should be affirmed.

#### CONCLUSION

Respondent maintains that the trial court correctly denied appellant's motion to reduce Count II to simple rape, correctly instructed the jury on the amount and nature of resistance required in a rape case and correctly instructed the jury on elements of consent. Wherefore, respondent respectfully submits that the conviction and sentence of the appellant should be affirmed by this Court.